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he death of women and children in 

tragic circumstances is always 

terrible, Oradour-sur-Glane is no 

exception of course. Heart break when we 

think of all these lives brutally interrupted, 

of all these little innocent victims of a 

conflict they could not understand. For the 

vast majority, the case is closed: on the 

morning of June 10, 1944, Oradour was a 

laughing little village, and on the evening, 

after the passage of a Waffen SS company, 

Oradour was in ruins, with hundreds of 

corpses among the rubble. This is enough to 

designate the criminals, which means the 

"Nazi hordes". Such a deduction may 

appears perfectly reasonable. But, if we 

consider the tragedy continuity, we must 

admit that only the first and last step are 

certain. The rest is the result of 

investigations, with everything they could 

have of deficient or oriented, sometimes 

both. That's why a counter-investigation 

appears necessary to us. If, for any reason, 

you want to believe the commonly accepted 

thesis since 1944; if, in your opinion, full 

responsibility of the Waffen SS can not be 

questioned; then stop this video 

immediately, it is not for you. If, however, 

you feel that doubt is allowed even when 

dealing with SS, then we're inviting you to 

follow this counter-investigation on 

Oradour's tragedy. For this matter we're 

going to adopt a traditional investigation 

methodology, much like the one described 

in that famous detective TV show called 

"Columbo". We arrive at the crime scene 

after the tragedy, while the technical teams 

have already conducted initial findings and 

questioned the first witnesses. These 

information will help us to begin our 

investigation. This one will start to focus on 

facts materiality, scientifically, with no 

consideration of the context; here: the 

German occupation; or for the presumed 

murderer; here: the Waffen SS; in order to 

understand what happened.  

T 
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The facts as they are  

depicted to us:  
 

Here's what can be learn:  

 

By early afternoon, the Waffen SS 

surrounded Oradour, and drove back to the 

center of the village the persons who where 

working on the fields. The population is 

regrouped on the main place: the 

fairgrounds, under the pretext of an identity 

check. 

 

Men are separated from women and children 

that will be led into the church. Men are 

divided into six groups and led into the 

Oradour's biggest sheds or barns, where the 

Germans have installed machine guns.  

 

At 4:00 pm, and within a few seconds, men 

are killed without understanding why. Some 

victims received the quietus. The Germans 

covered corpses with combustible materials 

and ignited these places of torment, as well 

as houses. Only five came out of the Laudy's 

barns without being shot by the 

executioners. At 5:00 pm, it's unfortunately 

women and children's turn (400 persons), 

regrouped in the small church. The Germans 

dropped down a crate in the middle of the 

crowd, in the center of the edifice. From that 

crate emerge a little cord they lit.  

 

This crate, destined to asphyxiate, exploded 

and smashed down the stained-glasses. The 

asphyxia didn't occur as the Germans 

expected. Then, they shot women and 

children. Today, bullet holes are still visible 

on the interior walls of the church. A 

woman, Mrs Rouffanche, managed to flee 

by a stained glass window, followed by 

another women and her baby. The screams 

of the baby alerting the Germans, these three 

people were strafed, only Mrs Rouffanche, 

while wounded, survived, hiding herself in a 

range of green peas in the presbytery's 

garden.  

 

Let's add to this, that, always from the 

gathered evidences, in the church, the 

Waffen SS would have burned the women 

and the children, which would have caused a 

general fire in the building. This stamp 

emitted in October 1945, illustrates the 

official thesis.  

 

The counter-investigation  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The objective of our investigation is to 

confirm or reject this version of the fact. To 

this end we will use historical pictures to, 

first of all:  

1) examine the state of the bodies found; 

2) establish a situational inventory after the 

tragedy.  

 

These elements should allow us to formulate 

first hypothesis, regarding the facts which 

occurred on that tragic July 10. Then, and 

only then, we will look at the various 

testimonies. Thus for now, let's just open 

our eyes, and observe.  
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 FIRST PART: MATERIAL OBSERVATIONS.  

 The state of the bodies   

Let's start to observe men corpses state. 

Pictures fallen in the public domain are not 

very many, and we don't know exactly 

where they were taken, but we will content 

ourselves with them.  

 

This body is completely carbonized.   

It's unrecognizable.  

 

 

 Same comment for these three bodies. 

Note, in the foreground, the missing 

extremity: a foot; as for the only visible 

face, it got no more facial features, nor hair, 

or lips, explaining the perfectly exposed 

teeth.  

 

 That last body confirms what we've 

already said: face rendering impossible any 

identification; carbonized flesh; missing 

extremities; all these corpses were visibly 

devoured by the flames.  
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 Here is by the way, what remains of a 

crew member of a Hercule C-130, an army 

transport aircraft which crashed in Iraq. The 

body remained a long time in a violent 

blaze. Found among the debris, the whole 

body is there, although an extremity 

disappeared, devoured by the flames. The 

clothes disappeared and flesh are 

carbonized.  

 

 Here is another crew member. Facial features are totally missing, as well as the hair, 

making any identification really difficult, or even impossible. The flames devoured the lips 

making the teeth perfectly visible.  

 

 
 

 

 The bodies you are seeing now, are those 

of prisoners who died in the gigantic fire of 

their prison, in Honduras, on February 2012. 

Unable to extract themselves from the 

building, they also stayed a long time in an 

intense fire, explaining their characteristic 

look.  

Their striking resemblance with men of 

Oradour's bodies, doesn't let much place for 

doubt. The official thesis is right, when it 

affirms that male bodies population, stayed 

a long time in an intense fire.  
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That being said, let's examine women and children bodies, which we are told were extracted 

from the church.  

 

 What strikes our attention first, are these intact shoes. These are not shoes that spent many 

hours in a violent fire.  

 

 Same comment on that picture.  

1. shoes and intact legs 

2. these two legs where stockings are clearly visible 

3. the fragmented body of a little girl whose dress is intact 

 

 On that same picture circled, there 

are many other shoes and/or, many 

other intact extremities, meaning 

without any burn marks. Also, we can 

see it's not full bodies, but only body 

fragments.  
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 Have a look now to this poor boy. 

His clothes are intact, his hair are still 

there and his hear too.  

 

 Here's the same body seen from 

another angle. His shorts are perfectly 

intact, but the flesh of his legs is 

carbonized, and his shoes are burned on 

the surface. Death seems to be the result 

of a partial tearing of the head. A 

simple fire couldn't have caused 

anything like that. The phenomenon 

had to be very violent, but also very 

brief. And it's not over.  
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 Shorts and sandals of this other boy are also intact. 

 The poor boy had literally been cut in half.   

Really, can a fire cause such damage on a body?  

 

 This young girl has also been cut in half, but her 

shoes remain, including the laces (1). Here again, 

how to believe that a simple fire could have caused 

such damage on a body?  

 

Please also note the intact shoes (2) and the intact 

hand of the corps nearby (3). 

 

 And for these 

other victims, they 

were found in a state 

of human debris.  
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 Have a look at this WWI soldier. He was killed in an explosion. His legs have been ripped 

off, but his uniform remains, and his face is preserved. The man remains perfectly 

identifiable.  

 

 These poor remains were transported in carts, and buried in common graves. Obviously, 

women and children had not suffered the same fate as men.  

Therefore, let's find other bodies whose story is different. 
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 In that case, the head was ripped off, during a bombing attack in Pakistan. But, we see that 

the clothes remain, and the fleshes, visible at the belly level are also intact.  

 

 This other body, is one of an Iraqi insurgent, who died in the accidental explosion of his 

bomb in 2006. Here again, except for his left leg, all the limbs have been ripped off, but 

clothes and fleshes that were not directly touched remain intact.  
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The bodies we just saw are mutilated, even shredded. But, they kept their clothes; even their 

shoes, when they had ones; their facial features, when the head was still there; their hair. 

Therefore, the conclusion is obvious, women and children bodies in Oradour's church, had 

been submitted to one or many heavy explosions. They have not been plunged in a violent 

blaze which would have last several hours.  

To see clearer, let's have a look to the church to examine the ruins.  

 

 The body of this 

women who died in the 

explosion of a German's 

bombshell during WWI, 

confirms that an 

explosion severely 

mutilates without 

carbonizing the fleshes. 

There, the body had 

literally been cut in half, 

but the hairiness remains.  

 

 Finally, and to 

compare with Oradour's 

pictures, this double 

bombing attack's victim, 

in Karachi (Pakistan), on 

February 5, 2010, his 

sandals are still intact.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The church ruins  

Here is Oradour's Church before the 

tragedy. 
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 And after the tragedy. What strikes first is the disappearance of all the roofs. It suggests a 

generalized fire… 

 

 … as the one which destroyed this American church, causing the loss of its roof structures 

and coverings. However, beware of hasty conclusions.  
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 Here is the collegiate church of Nivelles after a bombing in May 1940. Hit by some bombs, 

the explosions that shook the building have blown off the main roofs. The resemblance with 

the church of Oradour is undeniable.  

 

 Here is now St. Gildas-des-

bois'church. (Atlantic-Loire) On 

August 12, 1944 a bomb penetrated 

almost vertically in the steeple, it was 

thus shaken by an inside explosion. 

 

 Let's compare with 

Oradour's church taken from a 

similar angle. The resemblance 

between the two steeples is so 

striking, that we can emit the 

hypothesis of an explosion, that 

would have shaken the 

Oradour's steeple from inside.  
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 Another fact also supports this hypothesis, Have a 

look to this side of the steeple taken shortly after the 

tragedy. On the openings circled in yellow, no stain of 

soot can be seen.  

 

 Same comment for this other side.  

 

 Same comment here. The black smoked 

stain that can be distinguish… 

 

 … comes from the fire of the small 

locale which was leaning against the 

steeple. It brought down the plaster, on 

parts licked by the flames, as well as this 

black stain.  

 
 I conclude with the only known picture 

of the Churh's fourth side after the tragedy. 

The two openings are indicated with red 

arrows. Here again, no stain of soot can be 

seen. The two brown arrows indicate the 

trace of the nave's roof. Here again the 

absence of soot, that could reinforce the 

thesis of roofs blown away by one or many 

explosions. The steeple openings thus, 

don't show any marks of soot.  
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 Now, assuming that, as 

pretended by Mrs. Rouffanche, 

the Germans would have set 

fire to the building by placing 

combustible: chairs, bundles of 

wood ... on women and 

children's bodies, the fire 

would have reached the 

steeple, progressing upward.  

 

 And, even claiming, as 

Pierre Poitevin did, that the 

Germans would have walked 

up to the steeple, to drop down 

mysterious incendiary 

pastilles… 

 … the small spiral staircase would have led them to the 

base of the steeple. So, it is where they would have drop 

off these pastilles… 
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This other view of the steeple confirms it. As the 

roof didn't fall immediately, the smoke had been 

expelled by the openings, leaving long stains of soot 

on the walls.  

 

 …and thus from 

there the fire would 

have started before 

progressing to the roof.  

 

 Consequently, for a 

fairly long time laps, the 

smoke would have been 

expelled by the only 

openings available: the 

openings practiced during 

the construction of the 

steeple. Therefore, stains 

of soot should be 

visible… 

 

 …like in the case of Chevry in the 

Ain, [Auvergne] where the church 

burned on May 7, 2012.  
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 The photo you are watching now, shows the criminal fire of Vaaler's Church in Norway. 

The fire started from the ground before progressing upward. Look at the steeple. The fire 

reigns inside but the roof didn't fall yet. Therefore, the smoke gets out through the available 

openings.  

 

 

 

 It's even clearer on these pictures as the fire made more progress.  
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Long minutes will be necessary for the roof 

to collapse, then for the flames and the 

smoke to be expelled vertically.  

 

The church steeple's aspect suggests that one 

or many explosions shook the building on 

June 10, 1944. Another fact supports this 

hypothesis.  

 

Of course, different parts of Oradour's Church were subjected to more or less intensive fires, 

as testified by the black smoke stains, here indicated with arrows. But, it's undeniable that 

these fires are not the main events causing the edifice destruction.  
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 The ridge tile cross.  

On top, circled, you can see what is 

called a "ridge tile cross". 

1. a superior sphere 

2. an inferior larger sphere 

 

 This cross is still visible inside the ruins of 

the church. The arrow 1 indicates the position 

of the superior sphere that disappeared, and the 

arrow 2 shows the inferior sphere. Let's get 

closer. 

 

 Indicated by arrows 1, the four bars 

enabling to fix the cross on the steeple's 

top. The sphere which was hollow, is 

really damaged. But, is still there, only 

been dented. Despite its thinness it didn't 

melt. It's a crucial fact, because watch 

this steeple fire.  
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 The fire got to the roof and during a 

long time, a very long time, the flames 

are going to lick the base of the ridge 

tile cross. This one is made of stone.  

 

 But, what would happen if it was a thin sphere 

made in brass? Heated by air and thermal 

radiations, it would certainly melt. But, today, that 

thin sphere is perfectly visible, cut in half and 

heavily dented indeed, but, with no fusion marks.  

The ridge tile cross was not dipped into an intense 

fire. So what did happen to it ?  

 

 We can emit the hypothesis that it 

was ejected during the steeple 

explosion. Then, it broke in half and 

dented when hitting the floor, but, that's 

all.  

 

 The partially melted bells.  

Let's enter now inside the church. From the 

square we access under the steeple.  
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 The first thing we see, are 

these two melted bells, the 

hammer of one of them is stuck 

in solidified bronze.  

 

 

 

 

 A bell doesn't melt in a 

steeple's fire. On the screen the 

Victoria's Tower of Ottawa's 

parliament, during the sinister 

in February 3, 1916. Until 

midnight while the flames 

ravaged the place, the old bell 

rang every hour, and fell 

immediately after midnight.  

 

 Here it is today after restoration. Although, damaged and oxidized, the bell survived the fire.  
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 On August 16, 2012, in 

Ohio, a church was completely 

destroyed by a fire.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Well, here again, the bell 

survived the sinister. It can be 

seen among the ruins.  
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 The two bells you are seeing now are those of St. Trinity's church in Downtown, Indiana. In 

1975, this church was almost completely destroyed by a fire. The bells are cracked and broken 

in various places, but they didn't melt.  

 

 Here is now the bell of the former cathedral of Notre-Dame-du-Bon-Port, destroyed on May 

8, 1902, during the Mount Pelee eruption. Despite the volcanic cloud, and the fire which 

followed, it was only deformed before falling, and tore longitudinally.  
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 I conclude with St. Mary's Church fire in Lubeck, during the Britannic bombing on the end 

of March 1942.  

 The bells fell and broke when hitting the ground, yet not melting.  
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 That being said, here is an article about the 1996's fire, of Brunehamel's Church in the Aisne 

(France). A little bell can be seen whose superior part is missing : melted.  

 

 Another interesting bell is the one of the former Depaz' house on Martinique island, totally 

destroyed during the Mount Pelee eruption. As in Brunehamel, the top disappeared, while the 

bottom is intact, to the point that inscriptions are still visible.  
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 I explain that fact as such: on the screen, 

a bell in sectional view. In red the metal 

thickness. We can see that a large portion of 

the mass is at the bottom.  

 

 Here is now a bell placed in a steeple. 

The heavy piece of wood maintaining it, is 

called the headstock. Now, imagine this 

steeple in flames.  

 

 The bell will receive heat by thermal 

radiation in all directions. The bronze is 

thus going to heat up, but knowing it's 

thinner on the top, it's that top part which at 

first will loose its mechanical properties.  

 

 After a certain time, since the bottom is 

much heavier, a crack will emerge within 

the bell,… 

 

 

 

 …and will cause the lower part to fall. In 

some case, that fall, will extract that part 

from the blaze… 
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 …explaining this portion of 

the bell found intact while the 

top is missing.  

 

 Nothing as such in Oradour. From the two bells in 

the steeple on June 10, 1944, almost nothing remains, 

except these two lower edge fragments circled.  

 

 

 Here is what it refers to, when 

looking at the entire bell. It's not 

much. 

 

  Some would rely on the fact that 

there were effectively two bells to favor 

the fire thesis. Indeed the diagram on the 

screen, seen from above, shows that 

when the fire is raging and that the 

thermal radiations -here symbolized by 

arrows- hit the bells, there is a small area, 

symbolized by a rectangle, where this 

thermal radiation is less intense, and 

could explain the subsistence of one 

small portion of the base. The argument 

is relevant, but three things opposed it :  

 

 

"Cold" zone 
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 1) Remaining fragments of the bells are too large in comparison of the lesser intensity 

zone.  

 

 

 

 

 

 2) With a very close inspection of the small remaining fragment, we realize that the edges 

are soft, so they are the result of a fusion.  

 

 

 

 

 

 In comparison with the edge 

of the bell from the Epaz house, it 

presents very sharp corners, 

coming from a crack.  
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 It's even more obvious with Lubeck's bells. Angles are clearly marked, and the surfaces are 

rough. Here again, a crack occurred. In Oradour, what we see is not a crack, but a fairly clear 

border, between what have melted, and what have not melted. What conclusion to draw? Let 

me explain.  

 

 

 

 

 

 The rectangle on the top (1) 

symbolizes a metal bar at ambient 

temperature.  

By heating it up (2), energy will be 

brought to it. The temperature will 

increase, where it's heated and the heat 

will be evacuated in two ways: by loss 

outward (left arrow), and by conduction 

in the matter (right arrow). This 

conduction explains that after a while, 

the whole bar will be hot, although it 

was heated at only one extremity (3). If 

the heating was not violent, after 

removing the fire, the bar will cool 

down without suffering any changes (4). 

 

  In contrast, if the fire is more 

violent, all the energy stored will not be 

evacuated. The evacuated part by 

conduction will cause a temperature 

rising in the bar (2). 

And for the remaining surplus, it will 

lead to the destruction of the metal 

internal structure that is going to melt 

(3).  

Once the fire removed, the bar will cool 

down, but will keep more or less large 

fusion marks(4).  
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 For a full fusion of the extremity while 

preserving the rest, it would take a really 

powerful fire. The produced energy would 

be such that the most part will not be 

evacuated, causing the rapid fusion of the 

extremity (2&3). The rapidity of the 

phenomenon would make the heat unable to 

evacuate the bar by conduction (3). It would 

result a fairly clear border, between the 

destroyed area, even missing, and the 

preserved area (4). The trouble is that such a 

powerful fire is revealed impossible to make 

with wood. Which is the case in a steeple.  

 

 Consequently, the way Oradour's bells were destroyed seems surrounded by mystery. What 

could cause such sharp borders between the well preserved parts, and the missing ones? 

Possible answer: an explosion.  

 

As part of our presentation, we could consider an explosion as a bolting combustion. The 

energy is instantaneously released, forming heat and a shock wave. (Sudden pressure rising).  

 

 

 

 

 

 One part of the released energy will be 

absorbed by the metal (1), causing an 

almost instantaneous fusion, and the 

scattering of the melted metal (2). The 

phenomenon will be so brief that no flow of 

heat by conduction will occur. It would 

result in a really clear border, between the 

disappeared part by fusion and the intact 

one (4). 

 The state of the visible bells in Oradour 

thus comes to confirm the thesis of a violent 

explosion, which occurred in the steeple.  

 

 

 

 

 The vault of the steeple  

Some will answer that if a violent explosion 

shook that part of the church, it would 

undoubtedly have damaged the vault.  
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 But, they would say to me, today this 

vault is still perfectly visible with the 

central oculus. It's certainly what they 

want you to believe.  

 

 But, have look at warheads stones 

circled (1), and compare them to those 

circled (2). No need to be a specialist to 

see that the first ones are ancient, while 

the second ones are modern. It's the 

proof of a late reconstruction of at least 

one portion of the vault.  

 

 
 Are you doubting it? So open one of the first 

book published on that issue.  

The author spoke about: "stones felt from the 

vault." The fact that he is on the church's 

threshold, clearly demonstrates that he is talking 

about the tower bell's vault.  
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 Further by the way, he 

published snapshot that 

shows, I quote: "stones 

from the fallen steeple's 

vault." One couldn't be 

clearer.  

 Warheads' stones are 

also visible on that other 

snapshot, as well as a bell 

fragment.  

Knowing that the vaults 

of the nave felt down in 

November 1944, these 

stones can only come 

from the steeple.  
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 I add that in 1945, in June, the 

government published a report 

coming from the General Intelligence 

Services dated from July 4, 1944, 

and regarding Oradour's tragedy.  

 The redactor clearly wrote, I 

quote: "The vault of the steeple that 

overlooked the church collapsed." 

The vault as it can be seen today is 

the result of a reconstruction, at least 

partial. Far from contradict the thesis 

of an explosion in the steeple, it's 

condition on the evening of June 10 

supports it on the contrary.  

 

 

 The nave and the choir  

Let's move forward now. 

Here we are in the nave, in 

the background the choir 

and the high altar. On the 

screen, one of the rare 

picture taken shortly after 

the tragedy, and which is 

showing this area. Note that 

chairs and benches on 

which the faithful followed 

the service disappeared.  
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 A picture taken 

in October 1944, 

which is 4 months 

after the tragedy, 

shows soot trails 

above the three 

stained-glasses 

windows located 

behind the high 

altar, obvious sign 

of a fire. That being 

said, let's move back 

to the inside.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The ground is 

scattered with 

debris, and among 

them numerous 

stones.  
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 Now, let's focus on the 

statue circled. It's the cleric of 

Ars'. The top had been 

pulverized leaving the bottom 

intact. What could have done 

that? Let's change our vision 

angle.  
 

 The projectile responsible of 

the destruction left a visible 

impact. The shape is 

reminiscent of a stone and not 

of a bullet.  

 

 Because here is what we are told 

to be a bullet impact, in a stone of 

this church built in granite from 

Limousin. It is much smaller…  One 

must see the proof that, on the day of 

the tragedy, stones where violently 

thrown throughout the church.  

 

Moreover, in that brochure published few months after the tragedy one can read, I quote: 

"Into what was the church, rubble stones, coming from who knows where, scattered the 

ground covered with ashes." If the author couldn't discover their origin, it was because the 

rubble stones came from far away. Too far for a man who favors the cause of an arson.  
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That being said, let's focus on the high-altar.  Here's the drawing of a traditional mass altar. 

I call your attention to the podium, and to the symmetrical aspect of the object.  

In Oradour, what strikes first, are the major destruction.   

I don't speak about the impacts, but on the missing parts. The wooden podium, represented in 

white, on which the priest climb to officiate is totally missing. And if it burned, there's no 

stain of soot on the altar. Thus, we can't exclude the hypothesis that it was smashed away. 

Another missing part, the left of the tabernacle with its three arches. All is in 

plaster(represented in black). It's totally missing, like blown off, or pulverized. Once again, a 

fire couldn't cause such mutilations. Let's get closer to consider the impacts.  

 

 The two marks framed in red, may be ones left by bullets. Effectively… 
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…they look like impacts in relatively soft stones. We clearly see the central hole, where the 

bullet physically hit the stone (1), then the damaged outskirt due to the shock (2).  

 

 

 In contrast, impacts framed in yellow, point instead on different dressed stones that would 

have hit the altar. It's even more visible on the upper part (1). One can't see a deeper hole that 

could have been left by a bullet. As for the altar edges, the way it's broken, on all its length, 

and uniformly, can surprise. One can't tell what happened.  
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 One could expect to find in 

particular cults objects as 

candle holder and crucifix, 

melted or partially melted, 

which would have left some 

small puddles of solidified 

metal.  

 

 But, all these objects are 

still well visible in the 

remembrance crypt, and on the 

altar, no marks of melted metal 

can be seen, and no arson 

stigmata on the high-altar.  

 

 

From the choirs let's move into 

the sacristy. To our knowledge 

there is no picture showing this 

inside portion of the church, 

whether, before or after the 

tragedy. It had two levels: 

upstairs, the sacristy properly 

speaking, lighted by two 

windows; downstairs, kind of a 

storeroom communicating with 

the exterior by a door, a 

staircase connecting the two 

levels.  

 

However, with exception of the exterior marks of soot, 

above the stained-glass windows, this area doesn't show 

any trace of fire.  

 

 The mystery of the sacristy  
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 St. Anne Chapel  

 Let's go back into the church to examine 

the lateral chapels. Through the choir we see 

St. Anne Chapel.  

 

 On the screen a picture taken shortly after 

the tragedy. Let's go closer. The altar is 

severely damaged; The coating is missing; 

The interior bricks are visible.  
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 Here is the chapel as it appears today. Right to the stained-glass window is a door called 

by some: "Door of the Martyrs". The altar on the left is unrecognizable. Some violent events 

took place here, it's obvious.  

 

 

 

 

 

 Let's go back to the first snapshot. The 

framed zone in red was the scene of a fire. 

The white part of the wall was licked by 

the flames; Above, a characteristic black 

deposit. Can we say that this chapel has 

been destroyed by a violent fire? The 

hypothesis is relevant, but a snapshot took 

from the outside deserves our attention.  
 

 It's not very well known. Here it is, as I 

captured it when I was at the Haute-

Vienne-Photographic-Archives. 

 

Although the original snapshot shows 

some black deposit around the door, but 

one can't see nothing, absolutely nothing, 

around the stained-glass window. Not any 

trace of black smoke deposit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Altar 

"Porte du martyre" 
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 Same observation inside. Nave's walls seem to be perfectly clean. The violent fire 

hypothesis, in order to explain the state of this chapel, is far from being certain.  
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 Saint-Joseph Chapel  

That being said, let's go 

next door an enter the chapel 

dedicated to St. Joseph.  

 

 Surprise... In this church 

which, according to the 

official thesis, would have 

been ravaged by a generalized 

fire, we discover a wooden 

altar with no trace of burns.  

 

 

 One can discover the confessional, 

perfectly intact. This wooden piece, of which 

some sections are only a few milliliters thin, 

thus survived.  

It too.  

 

  In his book, Pierre Poitevin, who visited 

the church shortly after the tragedy, states 

that this chapel, I quote: "was spared by the 

fire"  

Well.  

 

 

 

 THE VIRGIN CHAPEL  

 Let's cross the nave, and enter the chapel 

dedicated to the Virgin. Second surprise, and 

a really huge one.  
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 Adding to this, on the other end of 

the chapel, the Virgin's altar can be 

seen, made in plaster and also 

perfectly intact.  

 

 Pierre Poitevin specifies that in 

that chapel, I quote: "draperies and 

ornaments were not very affected." 

We must deduce that this part of the 

church had also been spared by the 

fire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 In his report, the General Intelligence Services officer summarized the Virgin Chapel's 

preservation in writing, I quote: "The left part of the church partly escaped the flames." This 

recalling, end our material inspection of the church.  
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 First conclusions  

 It can be summarized as 

follow: In red, areas that 

were the siege of more or 

less violent fires. In blue, 

areas that were preserved 

from the flames and from 

all other destructive events. 

As for the nave, pictures 

don't allow us to conclude. 

As for the steeple, we favor 

the explosion thesis.  
 

The first conclusion is the 

following: generalized fire 

thesis, as it is presented 

since 1944, is wrong. 

 

Of course, it's undeniable that many more or less intensive 

fires have spread in some places, but, they can't be blame for 

the destruction of the edifice, or the death of women and 

children whose corpses we saw. Obviously, these bodies have 

been shredded by one or many explosions. Therefore, what 

happened on June 10, 1944 in Oradour's Church? Our first 

hypothesis is that one:  

Many explosions shook Oradour's Church, they occurred 

under the church's attics, and in the steeple. 

  

 

 

 

 

Probably a chain reaction occurred. The shock 

wave issued from the first explosion leading to 

the next ones. This hypothesis explains:  

- the astonishing preservation of the ridge tile 

cross, and most particularly, of the thin brass 

sphere at its base;  

- the absence of soot at the steeples' openings; 

the very particular states of the bells, with these 

very clean borders, between intact parts and 

melted ones;  

- the disappearance of the roofs blown away by 

the shock wave.  
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 SOME INTERESTING COMPARISONS.  

 Let's add to this the collapsing of nave's arches, in November 1944, shook by the 

explosions occurred under the attics, the weakened structure finally collapsed few months 

later.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 It's interesting by the way to 

compare Oradour's church with 

many others, which, like this one, 

were bombed. The bombs 

punctured the roof and exploded on 

the vaults, resulting in their 

collapse.  

 

The resemblance with Oradour is 

striking, which suggests that the 

phenomenon behind the destruction 

is identical. This being said, let's go 

back to our explosion.  
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 THE EXPLOSION THESIS AND ITS CONSEQUENCES.  

 

 Downward, overheated gas, -product of the explosion- invaded in a fraction of seconds the 

nave's church, and some stones ripped from the vault, were projected at high speed in every 

directions.  

 

 

 

 

 Hollow charge 

principle being exerted, the 

thrust in the steeple did not 

only develop upward, but 

also downward, at the 

vault's level with its 

oculus, whence the 

steeple's vault partial or 

total destruction, some 

stones found lying just 

below.  
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The testimonies  
 

 LATE REVELATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS.  

Nine years after the facts, at the Waffen SS trial, in 1953, one could learn from a witness to 

whom we will come back later, Mrs Rouffanche, that, at one point, "a flame entered into the 

church." This confirms the thesis of an explosion in the steeple, phenomenon that would be 

followed by the eruption, of inflamed gas in the nave.  

 

 Still in this trial, Mrs. Rouffanche revealed another event that was hidden to us up to then. 

In the sacristy, a sudden explosion had caused the floor to collapse, and the people to fall. If it 

was true, then the corpses found in that place shouldn't be burned either.  

 

This phenomenon was a really short one, 

thereby explaining:  

- the astonishing preservation of the Virgin 

and St. Joseph chapels;  

- the top destruction of the Cleric of Ars 

statue, by a stone, without hitting or 

destabilizing the bottom;  

- impacts on the high-altar, and most 

particularly, the spraying of the top-left side 

part.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

But, above all, this thesis explains, the states 

of women and children corpses, which we 

saw on pictures. The shock wave; the 

projected object; and the inflamed gas; 

allowing to explain these mutilations.  

This big explosion seems to be the origin of 

the tragedy. Once this conclusion is 

formulated, let's proceed to the testimonies' 

study.  
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 This was confirmed by the police commissar Hubert Massiéra, who investigated the place 

shortly after the tragedy. The corpses found in the storage room, he said : "were not burned".  

 Thus, here is the new plan of the church, with the correction for the sacristy. The 

generalized fire thesis is moving further away.  

That being said, let's focus our interest on the other witnesses, who came shortly after the 

tragedy.  

 The police commissar André 

Petit confirmed: "It was a 

gigantic horror, [...] There 

wasn't any intact body. Some 

were cut in half."  
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 Regarding the church, Pierre 

Poitevin wrote, I quote: "Heads were 

disconnected from trunks, arms, legs, 

lie here and there, scattered." "A 

contorted hand hang on a twisted 

iron ornament on the high-altar." "A 

decapitated body is lying in cross"  

 

 The Bishop of Limoges for its part 

states, I quote: "We are entering in 

the church, [...] here and there, 

pieces of skulls, of legs, of arms, of 

thorax, a foot in a shoe."  

 

 

 

 

 

Those testimonies amply confirms our material findings issued from pictures. But there is 

more. 

 Jean Pallier, an engineer of the SNCF* [French Railway], who went to Oradour the next 

day of the tragedy. 
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 He wrote : "It does not appear that women and children suffered the same fate, [as the men 

who were shot and burned], since we have found in the Church, corpses surprised by death in 

a normal attitude." Isolated testimony? Not at all.  

 
 The commandant of the Red 

Cross team in charge of 

cleaning the place reports, I 

quote:  

"In the partially destroyed 

church, are the remains of 

women and children surprised 

by death, and burned on site."  
 

These findings, grant the 

sudden explosion thesis, which 

would have caused in the nave, 

a volcanic cloud. Women and 

children that were in its way, 

were totally surprised, and 

some died before they could 

make any move.  
 

That being said, let's focus on 

witness number one.  

 

 

 

 

 

 WITNESS NUMBER ONE: MARGUERITE ROUFFANCHE.  

 Her first known statements.  

 

 For the official thesis, only one woman succeeded to 

escape the massacre of the church. This is Marguerite 

Rouffanche, born on December 19, 1897, 46 years before 

the fact.  
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Here are her first known statements, as they appear in the report made by police commissar 

Massiéra, of General Intelligence Services.  

 

 The latter recorded her shortly after the tragedy, while she was treated at the hospital.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Let's listen to her: 

"During more than one hour, we stayed locked 

ignoring the fate awaiting us.  

Then, two young soldiers aged 20 to 25 years 

old, entered the church, and dropped down on 

its center a huge crate wrapped with strings. 

They set fire to it, and immediately a dense 

smoke spread off.  

Women and children started to fall on the floor, 

in particular in the right-nave.  

To avoid the asphyxia, I moved toward the door 

of the sacristy, is on the left of the high-altar, 

and once that last one shook, and opened under 

our blows, I entered with almost thirty persons 

in the sacristy. I sat on the staircase steps, and 

my daughter who was sitting next to me, was 

killed by a bullet coming from outside, reaching 

her on the throat.  

I heard many times shooting noises in the 

church.  

Then, I saw the Germans throwing chairs and 

bundles of wood, on corpses lying on the floor, 

in the right-nave, near the exit door, and set fire 

to them.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A few moment later, the Germans moved toward 

the sacristy, and strafed us at close range.  

I closed my eyes and stayed still to give the 

illusion of the death, and I wasn't hit by the 

bullets. As soon as the soldiers left the place, I 

reached the choir of the church. There, seeing a 

stepladder behind the high-altar, I could, thanks 

to it, reach the central window of the apse, 

whose fence was partly removed, and let myself 

fall on the ground from about a three meters 

height, without causing me any injuries.  

A young mother who was still in the church saw 

me, and yelled at me to catch her baby. She 

threw him out by the windows I just crossed, but, 

I couldn't reach him, then she threw herself on 

the floor. The noise of our voices caught the 

attention of the German soldiers, who fired on 

us. I was preceding the young woman, and I was 

running behind the presbytery in a garden 

strewn with green peas, located beneath the 

church, when I got hit by few bullets. Without a 

cry, I let myself fall on the ground, and stayed 

there, until the next day at 5:00 pm, time to 

which it was possible for me to call for help."  
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In her testimony never Mrs Rouffanche speaks about an explosion. Her narrative contradict 

our thesis, its undeniable. But, what credit can we give to it?  

 

 An impossible jump  

Let's start with the jump 

that Mrs. Rouffanche 

would have made to 

extract herself from the 

church.  

 

 Marked with a red cross 

on that model, the stained-

glass window from which 

the only survivor would 

have passed. Note the 

height… 
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 It's even more visible on that snapshot. Although Mrs Rouffanche is on the foreground, and 

that she seems taller, the magnitude of her jump appears immediately, especially since she 

was 46 years old at the time. We took some measures on site. Not only she would have fell 

from 4 meters high, but she would have landed on a highly inclined surface. Now, watch this 

short sequence. This young man is going to jump from about 4 meters high. To absorb the 

fall, he bend his legs.  
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Assuming that he would 

have landed on an inclined 

surface, he would have felt 

himself irresistibly pushed 

and unbalanced forward.  

 

 

It's really easy to explain, if 

we consider the forces 

involved at the moment of 

the reception.  

 

 

Their resulting, assimilated 

to an unique force 

symbolized by the arrow, 

push and destabilize the 

person forward.  

 

 

 Consequently, if this 46 years old 

woman, whose physical have nothing of 

athletic, would have jumped from the 

window to land without any injuries, she 

would have felt forward, and would have 

rolled down the inclined surface, before 

falling in the street 2,50 meter lower. 

where Waffen SS soldiers were stationed. 

 

 

 But, Mrs Rouffanche pretends that, 

despite the SS' shootings hitting her with 

several bullets, she was able to flee and 

find refuge in the presbytery's garden 

among green-peas ranks.  
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On August 6, 1990, I asked the 

question to Robert Hebras.  
 

 In 1952, a writer who had 

investigated the case revealed that 

Margueritte Rouffanche herself could 

not explain how she could have 

stopped her fall and flee along the 

cornice: "The poor Margueritte does 

not know." (See Camille Mayran, 

"Larmes et Lumières à Oradour" ed. 

Plon, 1952). 
 

 Here are my originals notes, the 

few that escaped the French 

authorities in 2001.  

 Thus, her fall, was stopped at the level of the small parapet. Here is by the way, the sketch 

joined to his report by Police commissar Massiéra Mrs Rouffanche trajectory is underlined in 

yellow. We clearly see that the only survivor didn't fall on the road, thus, her fall was stopped 

on the inclined plan, or at the last moment, on the parapet. How?  
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 In front of me, Robert Hébras invoked the existence under the stained-glass window, of 

brambles, more than one meter high. The Church's only survivor would then have fall in that 

brambles, that would have stopped her fall. Wounded, she would have fainted, and would 

only have recovered on the evening. The trouble is that this explanation contradicts Mrs 

Rouffanche's testimony herself. Will some say to me that Police commissar Massiéra didn't 

faithfully transcribed her words?  

 

 I'll answer in invoking the official testimony of the church's only survivor, -on which I'll 

come back later- it's dated November 30, 1944. One can read, I quote: "Since the stained-

glass window was broken, I rushed through the opening. I made a jump of more than 3 meters 

high. Looking up, I realized that I had been followed in my climbing by a woman who, from 

the top of the window handed me her baby. She fell next to me".  

 

"The Germans alerted by 

the screams of the child 

strafed at us. My partner 

and the baby got killed, I 

was also wounded while 

reaching a garden 

nearby." Never thus, Mrs 

Rouffhance spoke about 

any brambles where she 

fainted. Robert Hébras' 

allegations in trying to 

explain the stop of the fall 

where thus mendacious. 

But, it wasn't all.  
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Just listen now to the speech that in 2006, the Oradour's guide retailed to visitors:  

 
But, a lady succeeded to escape this massacre. We 

saw it earlier. It is Marguerite Rouffanche, she 

was 46 years old during the attack. When the first 

bullets are shot in the church, she was near the 

altar. Then, she managed to go behind the altar, 

where she found a small stepladder, which is 

normally used to light the candles in the church. 

She climbed the stepladder, which then, allowed 

her to climb the altar, to go through the central 

window, which was already broken. She escaped 

from there.  

 

So, when she started to escape, a young woman 

followed her, a woman with a little baby, and all 

three tried to escape. Mrs Rouffanche took the 

child the young woman handed her, but, afraid, he 

started to cry, which alerted the soldiers who 

stood behind this wall.  

 

Until then, they didn't saw what was going on 

behind the window, because behind that wall, in 

1944, there was a gigantic bush which is no 

longer here. A bramble, that was very high, very 

bushy, and was hiding the view from these 

windows. That's why these soldiers only shot 

when they heard the child's screams because he 

was afraid. So, they deadly wounded the young 

woman and her baby, and Mrs. Rouffanche was 

also hit on the hip, and so, she fell on the other 

side, outside the church, behind the wall and the 

brambles. There she made a very significant 

drop...  

 

  This time its no more question of a bramble of 

1 meter high, but, of a bush very bushy, and very 

high, more than 4 meters, because it was hiding 

the view from the central window.  
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 But, not only Mrs 

Rouffanche never spoke about 

it, but it suffice to examine the 

thin layer of grassy soil on the 

inclined plan, to understand that 

no gigantic bush could have 

taken root there.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Here is by the way, a picture 

taken before the tragedy. No 

thick bush is hiding the view 

from the window.  
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But, he carefully cut the part where 

the only survivor, specified the 

height of her jump. Yet, it is only a 

short sentence of 10 words, "I-

made-a-jump-of-more-than-3-

meters-high". Thus, his cutting was 

not imperative, except in the case of 

hiding to the reader, the height of 

the fall, so that he wouldn't ask 

himself questions about this 

incredible jump for a 46 years old 

woman.  

 

Here again this shell game, is a 

confession. Memory's keepers are 

unable to save the narrative of the 

church's only survivor.  

 

 

 

 In his book, Pierre Poitevin 

published a picture taken shortly after 

the tragedy. Here again, no bush is 

visible.  
 

Those pitiful attempts to save 

Marguerite Rouffanche's testimony, 

invoking, the existence of a bramble, 

or the existence of a gigantic bushy 

bush, are all confessions. Confessions 

that the only survivor's narrative is of 

the highest fantasy.  

Consequently, memory's keepers 

only have one possibility left: hide 

this impossible jump. I recall that in 

her official testimony, Mrs 

Rouffanche specified to have made, 

"a jump of more than 3 meters high."  

 

Well, in his book published in 2001, the creator of the Center for Oradour's Memory, 

published an older version of the testimony, a very similar version however.  
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 A testimony which explains nothing  

Let's go further and forgot that impossible jump. Yes, let's examine the precedent portion of 

this testimony, about the facts which occurred in the church. The narrative tries to explain the 

destruction of St. Anne Chapel, that Mrs Rouffanche called "the right-nave" [nave on the 

right] It confirms additionally that violent events occurred in the sacristy, also destroyed. This 

is the SS she said, that have strafed the people and burned the bodies. Only this...  

 

 

 Let's consider the large 

woodshed that, according to Mrs 

Rouffanche, the Germans would 

have lit in St. Anne Chapel. Either, 

it remains confined, or it will spread. 

If it stays confined, how to explain 

all the other destruction, extending 

from the sacristy's basement, to the 

edifice's roofs?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Now, let's assume, logically, that 

the fire would have spread in the 

nave, thanks to the wooden chairs 

and benches, then from there, into 

the choir, to the sacristy, the steeples 

and the attics. Thus, we obtain the 

general fire from the official thesis. 

But, then, how to explain the 

preservation of the chapels 

dedicated to St. Joseph, and to the 

Holy Virgin?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



P a g e  | 62 

 

 

  In 2006, Oradour's authorities who knew the revisionist 

arguments, answered as follow through the guide tour's voice:  

 

So, you can also notice that in the other wing, are still wooden 

furniture. It was not added, it was already there during the 

attack. That one didn't burn, simply because there, very few 

victims were found, so there were few flames, Moreover, the 

oxygen entering by the two windows was totally absorbed by 

the fire that was there. So over there, it was mostly an 

extremely warm atmosphere that reigned. By the way, a little 

boy took refuge in the confessional, and he was found dead 

completely dried out.  

 

 

 The explanation is thus the following one: In the Virgin 

Chapel, the wooden furniture, and especially the confessional, 

stayed intact because, due to a lack of oxygen, the fire didn't 

catch there. There were only extremely hot combustion gas.  

 But, when a fire occurred, calorific energy, thus, the heat, 

is transmitted not only with the hot air; which is the 

convection phenomenon; but, also by electromagnetic waves; 

this is thermal radiation phenomenon. 
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And when the fire ablaze, the thermal radiation becomes the main way of transportation of the 

heat. The thermal radiation energy is proportional to the power four of the temperature. This 

fact is crucial for the following reason: 

 

 Let’s consider an object located nearby a 

fire source. At the beginning the fire being 

small, we can say that the low radiation 

doesn't touch the object.  

 

 

 

 

 

 But then, the fire grows in intensity, the 

radiation rises and hits the object, which 

heat little by little before reaching its 

ignition point.  

 

 

 Once this point is reached, the object 

ignite in its turn, without being touched by 

the flames.  

 In his article, Gill Leduc reports that by 

radiation, an inflamed house provoked the 

ignition of another building located 300 

meters away, and separated by a river.  
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   Consequently, even in supposing 

that the flames directly escaped, by the 

windows of east frontage, and by the 

steeple (chimney effect), so that they 

didn't reach the dedicated chapels to St. 

Joseph, and to the Holy Virgin, … 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 …the intense radiation, -symbolized 

here by orange arrows- would have 

suffice to bring the different wooden 

objects to their ignition point. As to 

affirm that the oxygen was lacking 

because it would have been directly 

absorbed by the blaze, it's an absurdity. 

The oxygen is not like a hurry cab, that 

didn't see a client, making signs on the 

sidewalk. Laws of physics are others. 

And also, don't forget the oxygen 

remaining on the floor level, it would 

have suffice to cause the conflagration. 

In short, the conclusion is that one: if a 

fire would have progressed as the official 

thesis said, it would inevitably have, 

blazed the altar of the St. Joseph Chapel, 

and also the confessional.  

 
Let's go further. Let's ignore the thermal radiation, and let's admit that going through the 

oculus of the steeple's vault, the fire would have progressed in the steeple preserving the two 

lateral chapels. All of this doesn't explain:  

- the way the bells partially melted;  

- or the thin brass sphere's preservation, under the ridge till cross;  

- or above all, the state of women and children corpses.  

 

Mrs. Rouffanche's testimony which didn't speak of an explosion, thus, doesn't allow to explain 

the material observations made in the church. Whatever the taken hypothesis, local fire, or 

generalized blaze, it leads to a dead end. The survivor's silence is even more astonishing, that 

other survivors spoke of a detonation.  
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 MAGUERITE ROUFFANCHE'S TURNABOUT  

In one of the first books published on that question, we found one survivor's narrative, Robert 

Hébras. With others, he was parked in the Lody's barn. Some SS were watching them.  

 He told, I quote: "Then, I heard a violent detonation coming from the center of the village. 

It was like a bomb explosion."  

 

 Let's go back on General Intelligence Services' report Here is what Jacques Garot and 

Robert Besson, who were hidden on tragedy's evening, said, I quote :  

 

"Around 4:00 pm, we perceived noises coming from the church, immediately followed by, a 

strong detonation, appearing to be the result of a grenade deflagration or an explosion."  

 

 For his part, another survivor 

that also hide herself stated, I 

quote:  

"A terrible noise bursts coming 

from the church, which was 

about 10 meters away from us. 

Detonation on detonation, 

succeeded, followed by an 

immense clamor and frightening 

screams."  
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 Another survivor, Aimé Renaud, confirmed this narrative, I quote: "The only complaint I 

heard," he said, it's when the church exploded. "I was 40 meters away from the church on that 

time." The President of the tribunal in charge to judge the former Waffen SS, interrupted him, 

and asked: "What did you hear? An explosion did you say?" The witness confirmed: "A huge 

explosion. Smoke came out from the church, a general scream of all women and children that 

were inside."  

 

 Interrogated a few minutes later by the government's commissar, Aimé Renaud added that 

he heard, "Many explosions." It can't be clearer. The church was the siege of violent bursts, 

which were at the origin of the awful tragedy undergo by the women and the children.  

 

Despite of this, on that month of June 1944, Mrs. Rouffanche stated that: "no explosion 

occurred in the church." "Even from that mysterious crate brought by the Waffen SS ?" "Yes, 

even from it." Interrogated by Pierre Poitevin, the church's only survivor told, I quote:  

 

 "It was a crate the volume and size of my bedside table. Nobody wanted to go close to it, 

but it didn't explode."  

 

The trouble is, as we saw it, that, her 

narrative doesn't explain, the damage 

observed in the church, or women 

and children bodies' state, extracted 

from the holy place. In addition, 

other witnesses spoke about 

explosions. Then, what should 

happen, happened.  
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 On October 16, 1944, 

Mrs Rouffanche changed 

her testimony. The crate, 

she now called it a: "box" 

was the siege of "a small 

detonation", before 

releasing smoke.  

But, it's still too shiny.  

 

 

 

 

 Then, two weeks later, 

Mrs Rouffanche is called 

to repeat her narrative, 

and this time, the crate 

becomes the siege of, I 

quote: "a loud explosion." 

A 180° turn, thus in five 

month.  

 

 But, it doesn't matter, it's THIS testimony that will become THE official testimony, of the 

church's only survivor, thus, the only one diffused in the abundant literature, at least until 

2001.  

The general public will thus never be informed, of the serious contradictions made by the 

church's only witness. 
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 In truth, Mrs. Rouffanche only stick her narrative to, that text dated June 15, 1944, and 

diffused only a few weeks after the tragedy. in the clandestine periodic, "Christian Testimony" 

… 

 

 …before being published, under the form of a brochure shortly 

after the liberation.  We read, I quote:  
 

"One hour after its deposit, the crate dropped down in the church 

made an explosion, blazing down the edifice which started to burn 

from all sides."  
 

Here is thus the explosion, and subsequently, the fire put on Waffen 

SS' account. Only, a first question emerges.  
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An explosion not imputable to the Waffen SS  
 

Why, immediately after the tragedy, Mrs Rouffanche, or more exactly those remote 

controlling her, hid that the explosion occurred in the church? The answer is obvious. If they 

hid it, the truth is that, this explosion was not imputable to the Waffen SS. Its origin was 

elsewhere. And this origin was so embarrassing, that it was imperative to eclipse it. To 

confirm this last allegation, let's admit one moment the hypothesis, of a crate exploding and 

causing a fire.  

 
 According to Mrs. 

Rouffanche, that crate would 

have been placed, I quote: "In 

the nave, near the choir"  

 

This is thus the crate, placed 

upward the church.  

 

It exploded,… 

 

…rapidly provoking a fire.  

 

The fire intensified, and 

started to strongly radiate.  

 

Would result a general 

blazing of the nave, and the 

lateral chapels.  

 

The authors of the text, used 

common sense when they 

affirmed that once burned 

down, the edifice started, I 

quote,: "to burn from all 

sides."  

 

But, here again, it contradicts 

the material observations 

made in the church. The 

chapels dedicated to the Holy 

Virgin, and to St. Joseph, 

were spared.  
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 Let's add to this that even if 

that fire did initiate from the 

crate, could have spread to the 

steeple, it would not explain 

the partial fusion of the bells; 

or the preservation of the ridge 

tile cross' thin brass sphere; or 

the absence of soot at the 

opening levels; or the roofs 

disappearance. Anyway, that it 

exploded or not, the mysterious 

crate doesn't allow to explain 

anything.  

 

 

 During our analysis, we 

concluded that many 

explosions shook the church at 

the attics level. On the 

explosions multiplicity, two 

known witnesses ruled in our 

favour Mr. Renaud, who heard, 

I quote:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 "many explosions." 

 

 

 

 

 And above all, Mrs Lang, 

who clearly stated, I quote: 

"detonation on detonation, 

succeeded, followed by an 

immense clamor and 

frightening screams."  
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The mysterious crate 

couldn't be responsible of all 

this, the most plausible 

thesis, is the one of strong 

explosions, that occurred 

very quickly one after 

another, under the attics, 

following a chain reaction. 

Once again, if those 

explosions could be 

imputable to the Waffen SS, 

the official thesis wouldn't 

have hide them to the main 

public. They wouldn't have 

tried either, to make them 

responsible, in invoking that 

mysterious crate, that one 

could never know, where it 

came from, or what was 

inside it.  

 

What provoked these explosions under the church's attics, without the Waffen SS being 

responsible of it? The obvious answer is: explosive materials that were stocked there. Given 

the time, everything leads to believe that those explosive materials were ammunition.  

The tragedy occurred in Oradour-sur-Glane, on June, 10, 1944, would have thus been 

triggered by the unexpected explosion of a clandestine depot of ammunition, that the local 

Resistance had organized under the attics of the church.  
 

Objection n°1: 

"the massacre started at 4:00 pm. in the barns" 
 
 "You are forgetting," some will answer, "that the massacre 

started with the shooting of men parked in the barns, thus, before 

the tragedy in the church."  

This argument is invoked by the survivor Robert Hébras. 

Tireless defender of the official thesis, he recently stated to the 

periodic Le Monde, I quote:  

 "The church burned after 5:00 pm, while the massacre of the 

men, and the fires in the village center started as soon as 3:00 

pm." Well.  
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 A MYSTERIOUS DETONATION  

But, let's focus on that detonation that would have marked the start of the massacre, that is to 

say, that would have given the SS the order to shoot on the men. This is where all happened. 

If it turns out that it really took place in the church, then the revisionists are right. Meaning 

that all started with the unexpected explosions which occurred in the church.  

 In his book published 

in 2001 and reedited in 

2012, the creator of the 

Center of Oradour's 

Memory, Jean-Jacques 

Fouché, wrote on page 

153, That the signal to 

men massacre consisted 

in, I quote: "A pistol shot" 

Which is surprising. 

because when one talk 

about detonation, it's not 

of a revolver. 

 
 I had that, in that work published in 

October 1944, Robert Hébras, well and truly 

stated regarding the signal, I quote:  

"Then I heard a violent detonation coming 

from the center of the village. It seemed to 

be the explosion of a bomb. The SS started 

to open fire on us." On January 22, 1953, at 

he Waffen SS trial, the survivors Dartout, 

Roby, and Broussaudier, were very clear.  

 

 Clément Broussaudier spoke about a "big detonation". 

 

 Yvon Roby about, "a wide detonation". 
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 Jean-Jacques Fouché is thus 

brazenly lying when he spoke of a 

"pistol shot", the tragedy started when 

a strong detonation resounded in the 

center of the village. But where did it 

came from?  

 

Many witnesses answered the 

question. 

 Mrs. Lang first of all, who, once 

again, told:  

"A terrible noise burst in the direction 

of the church, that was about 10 

meters away from us. Detonation, on 

detonation, succeeded, followed by an 

immense clamor and scary screams. 

The machine guns crackles."  

 

 And Marcel Dartout of a "wide noise" that was like, "the burst of a grenade."  

 

It's very clear. The church was the siege of violent explosions, and shortly after, the SS' 

machine guns entered in action. Knowing that machine guns were positioned where the men 

were kept prisoners, we logically deduce that SS shot when the church suddenly exploded.  

 

 Let's quote now the former Waffen SS, Henri Weber, interrogated on April 19, 1948, he 

stated, I quote:  

"When we were in combat position, behind the church, in the field, we finally heard, about 

one hour later, the sound of a strong explosion, followed by screams of pain from women and 

children. Then, a few minutes later, one single gunshot, after that gunshot, the light machine 

guns started firing staccato bursts in the village." "In the village." which means in the barns, 

garages and cellars, where the men were kept prisoners.  
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 Let's mention also the survivor Maurice Beaubreuil. On this tragic 

June 10, He was hiding with his older brother, Martial,… 

 …in their aunt's house, Mrs. Mercier, who lived Place of the Church 

where she ran a grocery store. During our interview in August 1990, he 

revealed to me that, I quote: "a really strong explosion coming from the 

Place of the Church, had unleashed all the shootings in the village, in 

particular those in the barns."  

 

 At that time, I was ignorant of the fact that his brother, Martial, did 

a similar statement.  

 It's in Jean-Jacques Fouché's book on page 155, It can be learn that 

during the Waffen SS Trial's inquiry, Martial Beaubreuil stated, I 

quote:  

"I clearly perceived an explosion coming from the church, followed by 

a strong strafing from every corner of the village's center."  

 

All these testimonies confirmed that the tragedy started, when the church was shaken by one 

or many heavy explosions, causing the death of women and children that were inside. only 

after the Waffen SS started shooting on the men.  

 

 THE LIE OF ONE SURVIVOR  

To save the official thesis, the survivor Robert Hébras stops at nothing, not even the most 

blatant lie. Let me explain.  
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 In his testimony which became 

official, Marguerite Rouffanche 

declared, I quote:  

 

"Towards 4:00 pm, soldiers aged 

about 20 years old, placed on the 

nave, near the choir, a sort of rather 

large crate, from which protruded 

some cords, they left lying on the 

floor. These cords having been lit, 

the fire spread into the device, in 

which a strong explosion suddenly 

occurred." 

 

 Knowing that the chronological tablet affixed to the 

entry of the village ruins states that, the signal of the 

massacre was an explosion that resounded at 4:00 pm, we 

logically deduce that all started with the church tragedy.  

 

 

 That's why, in his brochure, the survivor Robert Hébras 

is guilty of one dishonesty.  

 

 On page 25, he interposed in Mrs. Rouffanche's 

testimony, the following passage, I quote: "Between 4:00 

and 5:00 pm, those being had to undergo a frightful ordeal, 

because the intense din of the shootings, of the explosions 

and, of the fire, undoubtedly reached them. What have they 

thought?" That small passage makes the uninformed reader 

believe, that the SS would have brought the crate around 

4:00 pm. and would have left it during one hour before 

coming back and lit the cords.  
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But it's false! Mrs. Rouffanche testimony doesn't let any doubt on that subject, All occurred at 

4:00 pm.  

 

 Robert Hébras adding is even more dishonest that in July 1947, Mrs Rouffanche made an 

essential statement. She specified, I quote: "During the time I stayed into the church, I didn't 

see or hear any explosion."  

 

This precision is crucial. Indeed, according the official story, the massacre in the church 

would have occurred after the one in the barns. Consequently, Mrs Rouffanche, should have, 

during her waiting, heard everything, Especially the "detonation" which gave the SS the 

signal of the shootings. The fact that she heard nothing confirms,  

 

1) that the explosion mentioned by the survivor occurred into the church; that was the 

clandestine ammunition depot;  

 

2) That the SS started shooting on the men in the barns, following this explosion.  
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 Some would answer that our 

thesis faces the fact that in 

Oradour, there were no Maquis, 

no weapons, and no ammunition 

depot. This is repeated since 

1944.  

 

 

 

 Let's underline however that 

in 2001, in their newsletter, the 

friends of the Haute-Vienne 

Resistance Museum, recalled the 

existence, not far from Oradour, 

of six companies of Franc-

Tireurs and Partisans (FTP) 

[Free-Shooters and Partisans]  

 

The map next page shows their 

localization. The nearest was 

about 7 km from Oradour-sur-

Glane. If we consider that St. 

Junien, and Perillac were areas 

strongly populated with 

Resistants, then we realized that 

Oradour was surrounded by the 

Maquis (Resistance).  

 

Objection n°2:  

There were no Maquis and no weapons stored in Oradour  
[Maquis = Resistance groups]  

 

The question is thus the following: Was Oradour a quiet oasis in the middle of all that 

Resistant activities? 

 
  RESISTANTS AMONG THE POPULATION  

 What awaken my suspicions was this 

tablet affixed by The Maquis and The 

Resistance Doctors' Amicable: "To the 

Memory of Oradour's Doctors" Of course, 

this doesn't mean that Misters Desourteaux 

belonged to the Resistance,  
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 but knowing that Paul was also 

Oradour's Mayor, a Mayor designated or 

confirmed in his position, by Maréchal 

Pétain's government; I couldn't believe that 

the Resistance gave their namely tribute, to 

a collaborator. Except if that collaborator 

was engaged, in reality, in a double dealing 

in joining the Resistance.  

 Hence, a little inquiry I led among the survivors I met 

during the summer 1990. It became really fruitful, I 

learned in particular that in Oradour. 

 

 Paul Doutre was an auxiliary member of the 

Maquis, meaning without mission but mobilizable at 

any time.  

- Leonard Dupic was a secret army member. 

Resistance said of the right wing.  

- Matthieu Borie belonged to FTP, meaning the 

Communist Resistance.  
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 On June 10, he fled as 

soon as the Waffen SS 

arrived. "After burning all 

the papers that could 

jeopardized him." All this 

even before knowing what 

could occurred. Thus, here's 

a man that had no clear 

conscience, who possessed 

documents judged singularly 

compromising, and was 

suspecting that the Germans 

would inevitably led a 

search. If he was only an 

auxiliary member of the 

Maquis, he wouldn't have 

had to act like this. But, there 

is more.  

 

 MARTIAL MACHEFER & SARAH JAKUBOWICZ  

 

 Among the survivors is someone called 

Martial Machefer, who was qualified by the 

authorities as being, I quote:  

 

 "Notoriously communist and striking 

miner".  

 

- Aimé Renaud was the driver of a great Resistant from Lyon. 

Returned in Oradour with a false farmer card, he stayed in 

contact with Resistant from the area, such as Matthieu Borie.  

- Maurice Beaubreuil refractory to the Obligatory Work 

Service, took refuge at his aunt domicile in Oradour. As a 

mission he had to stayed in contact with Limoges. Each day 

he had lunch with Matthieu Borie. Matthieu Borie who build 

for himself a hiding room in his aunt's house Mrs. Mercier.  

- Paul Douard, who worked in the bakery, resupplied the 

nearby Resistant groups with bread.  

Of course these are just clues, and in excepting Paul Douard, 

it could be claimed that these people were just auxiliary 

members of the Resistance, that is to say accomplices with no 

formal importance. But, other important information must be 

considered.  
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 In Martial Machefer's 

ruined house, the corps of 

Sarah Jacubowizc's was 

found. She was a young 

woman natives from 

Poland and whose family 

took refuge for a while in 

Oradour.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Her brother David had 

joined the FTP, [Free-

Shooters and Partisan] 

Was Sarah anonymously 

buried in the common 

grave with others victims? 

No. Her body was 

recognized, and… 

 

 …buried during great 

funerals, organized by the 

French-Jewish's 

Resistance and Mutual-

Assistance Union, an 

organization of 

communist obedience.  

600 to 800 persons 

attended these funerals, 

during which "a 

catafalque was erected, 

surrounded by FTP's 

honor armed guard. Spray 

of flowers were disposed 

in the name of the 

different military corps, 

whom proudly gave their 

honors."  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



P a g e  | 81 

 

 

 Let's add that Sarah 

Jacubowitzc's coffin, was 

recovered by the tricolor 

flag. If, really, Sarah was 

just an anonymous young 

woman, or just a little 

auxiliary member, without 

any precise mission, she 

would never have benefited 

such funerals. Thus, the 

more we're progressing, the 

more the quiet village thesis, 

with no noticeable Maquis, 

falls apart. A simple 

survivor's comment will 

smash it completely.  

 

 MATTHIEU BORIE'S 

NARRATIVE  

 On June 23, 1994, the 

weekly magazine Paris 

Match, published an 

unreleased document: 

Oradour's tragedy narrative 

redacted shortly after the 

events by Matthieu Borie. 

The reason why it has never 

been published is going to be 

understood, now. The 

survivor related his attempt 

to flee as follow, I quote:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 "I go up the crossroad to take the cemetery's 

road, but the Boshes are in position. To late to 

escape. As I'm a resistant, I though about to seek 

reinforcements, I have to continue. Gun fires 

cracking from everywhere. I say to myself: 'There 

are some that don't want to follow and are 

engaging the battle". 

 

Where did Matthieu Borie thought he could find 

some reinforcement? Nobody ever asked him the 

question, which is too bad.  
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 It must be said that at the former Waffen SS' trial, in 1953, the witness carefully avoided to 

tell all these details, He merely said that the Germans told him to turn back, and that he saw 

them knocked down a door and shot a gun fire, and then, that he arrived to the meeting point.  

 
But above all, he concealed to the tribunal his reflection, I 

quote: "There are some that don't want to follow and are 

engaging the battle." Because, it was confessing that in 

Oradour, there were people able to sustain a fight against a 

Waffen SS commando. that is to say that, there were 

armed Resistants. Here is why Matthieu Borie spoke about 

seeking reinforcements. meaning: additional men in order 

to help his comrades, who, he believed, already fighting.  

 

 This passage of the survivor's narrative is so 

overwhelming, that in this work published in 1995, the two 

authors took care of suppressing it.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



P a g e  | 83 

 

 

Matthieu Borie's text give the final blow to the thesis according to witch, Oradour wouldn't 

have had any Maquis, or ammunition, and guns depot. But I can already hear the adversaries' 

answer: "Ammunition in Oradour? Where are your material evidences ?!" will they say.  
 

 THE STATE OF THE BROKEN HOUSES  

 Firstly, I'll invoke the state of the houses in Oradour. Those you're seeing on the screen 

have their walls smudged with black smoke stains. It's typical of as fire, white stains under the 

black smoke stains, even indicates that the flames got out and licked the wall on these spots.  

 

 The three asterisks replacing the omitted text.  
 

 On the screen, the comparison between the original 

text, and the one published in: "Parole de Miraculé" 

[Miracle Man Speech] The cut is undeniable. 
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  Now, have a look to these three houses: the house of the Resistant, Marcial Machefer, 

where Sarah Jacubowizc's corps was found; Milord Hôtel, and Mercier's grocery where 

Matthieu Borie had build a hiding room. Two elements are striking: 

- the total absence of black smoke stains, and mainly,  

- the intact vegetation, shown in yellow. In case of a fire, it would have burned under the 

thermal radiation effect. Thus, everything indicates, that these houses were destroyed by 

explosions. Can we invoke gas cylinders exploding after a fire was lit?  

 

 Here are other Oradour's houses that were ravaged by fires. Here again black smoke stains 

are clearly visible. 
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 "As soon they approached, the company got shot by guns and machine guns. Once the 

Resistance broken, a considerable amount of guns were seized during the houses search. On 

that, the village was set on fire. Then followed, in almost all the houses, detonations coming 

from ammunition secretly possessed . The detonations were so strong, that chief commandant, 

had to retract his men for their safety."  

 

The first part of this text confirmed that gun fires heard by Matthieu Borie, was well the fact 

of armed guerillas That's probably why, he wanted to rush in order to seek for reinforcements.  

 

 It's true that during my investigations, I saw at least one 

cylinder in the ruins, but I didn't see any disemboweled ones, 

and I never heard in Oradour talks, about explosions caused 

by gas cylinders. The official thesis only speaks of fires 

ignited by Waffen SS.  

 

 I add that, in his report redacted on January 4, 1945, the 

German judge who investigated the tragedy, and interrogated 

the Waffen SS wrote, I quote:  
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As for the second one, it explains the 

state of the many houses in the destroyed 

village. they contained ammunition 

depots. By the way, he Judge Okrent is 

not the only one who talked about 

explosions in the houses.  

 In its work, Pierre Poitevin reports the 

story of Louise Compain. Arrived in the 

evening with others near Oradour, and 

arrested by the Waffen SS. Questioned, 

these ones stated that all the village 

inhabitants were dead, and that Oradour 

was a capital of the Maquis. Facing the 

insistence of worried persons, a German 

added, "Us found arms and ammunition. 

[Speaking French with German accent] 

So make all blow, all in fire, Listen 

explosions!..."  The fact that Ms. 

Compain said she didn't hear anything, 

don't change much things. The houses 

state confirms the explosions thesis.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Without any surprises, the official 

thesis blames the Germans with the 

charge of, "ending the job", in 

slaughtering the women and children 

that survived the asphyxiating smoke, 

and to the mysterious crate.  

 

 

 

 

 THE BULLET CASES IN THE CHURCH.  

Let's go further. Yes, let's forget these houses, siege of explosions. 

 

 In her different testimonies, and in the official one of November 30, 1944, Marguerite 

Rouffanche always talked about a shooting that occurred in the church.  
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 According to the diocese of Limoges' reports, "hundreds of bullet cases, were found in the 

church."  

 
 Elsewhere, Guy Pauchou, 

and Pierre Masfrand, specified 

that it was found,  

- Quantities of 9 mm bullet 

cases with written on their 

bases: "WRA 9 mm." 

- 3 bullet case with the 

inscription : "hrn St", followed 

by twice two figures.  

- Many bullet cases marked: 

"aso Stf 8-44",  

- one bullet marked: "Kam St 

42-5",  

- Three without any readable 

marks. 

 

 Here's the only known 

picture of the bullet cases found 

in the church. Thus, according 

to the collected information, the 

immense majority of them carry 

the mention, "wra 9 mm", and a 

dozen of others marked with 

different inscriptions. For this 

dozen, the provenance is 

undoubtedly Germans.  
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 Here is a WWII bullet case marked: "hrn", these three first letters indicated the name of the 

ammunition's manufacturer; "St" stand for the bullet base, steel base, or reinforced base; the 

first figure was for the batch number, the second for the years of manufacturing;  

"hrn" indicated a manufacturer located in Eastern Prussia;  

 

 "kam" for a manufacturer located in occupied Poland;  

 and "aso" a manufacturer located in Schweinfurt; Consequently an undeniable German 

provenance.  

 On the other hand, "WRA", was for Winchester manufacturer, located in New Haven, in the 

Connecticut.  
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On a police forum dedicated to sportive shooting, one can read: "It was ammunition 

manufactured in the U.S. during WWII for England account, used to be shot only in SMG, 

SubMachine Gun, as the STEN, the STEN machine gun. "Parachuted to IFF's destination, 

during WWII [Interior French Forces], they can't be shot in a Luger or in a P38." As these 

two last weapons, the Luger P08 or, the Walter P38, being German weapons, of 9 mm caliber, 

one can deduce that the Waffen SS didn't use these bullets, even if they succeed to seize some.  

 

Therefore, what were those hundreds American bullet cases doing on the church's floor? The 

answer is obvious, they came from the clandestine ammunition depot. Did they go out by 

themselves during the explosions? Have they been shot? And if so, by whom? Without any 

examination of the bullet bases, we stayed in the expectation. But one thing is certain, these 

dozen of bullet cases attest, at least, the presence of an ammunition depot in Oradour's church. 

  

 A STRUCTURED MAQUIS AT ORADOUR: AN INOPPORTUNE WITNESS  

 
 I will finish on that subject 

with the appearance, 52 years 

later after the tragedy of a really 

embarrassing witness for the 

thesis: No Maquis in Oradour, I 

refer to Len Cotton.  
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 In 1946, one press organ issued from the Resistance 

revealed that during the war, Allied aviators fallen in enemy 

territory, were taken in charge by two escape networks.  

 One of them founded by a young Belgium woman, Andrée 

de Jongh, was called Comet, or Comet Escape Line. The 

retrieved aviators were conducted in Spain, from where they 

could reach England.  

 In 1996, one of my friend from Limoges, called my 

attention on a surprising article, it was about a former 

Britannic pilot: Len Cotton.  
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On November 25, 1942, 

during a mission, his plane 

was hit above Bordeaux, and 

crashed near Confolent. For 

the rest, one can be read, I 

quote: "Luckily, Resistance 

networks intervene. 

 

Len Cotton vaguely 

remembered a family name 

from there, "Borie, or 

Laborie." But, 

coincidentally,… 

 

English aviators were 

cared by peasants. They 

were then directed 

toward Oradour-sur-

Glane, where they were 

hidden during three days 

in the village. RAF* men 

then reached, Limoges, 

Toulouse, Bilbao [Royal 

Air Force] All this was 

very much like an 

evasion, thanks to the 

Comet network."  

 

… Matthieu Borie was an 

active Resistant in 

Oradour. Thus without 

waiting any longer, I 

wrote to this Len Cotton.  

 

If that story was true, If really, 

Resistance networks brought the 

pilots directly to Oradour-sur-

Glane, to entrust them to an 

evasion network, then it became 

difficult to believe, that no 

structured Maquis, existed in that 

village. Was Len Cotton wrong? A 

precision given in his article 

convinced me that he wasn't.  

 

Few weeks later, I received a fax 

dictated by him to his friend 

Christian Lalose, here, on the 

right.  

 

The aviator was given me details about his journey in Oradour. After being presented to a 

priest; he stayed hidden two and a half days in the: sacristy of the church; while waiting a 

contact was maid with Andrée de Jongh; he had been fed by: one of Mrs. Rouffanche's girls, 

named: Danièle; to the railway station of Limoges, he met Andrée de Jongh.  

These information, allowed to conclude that a structured Maquis existed in Oradour; that they 

used the church with the priest benevolence; and that the Rouffanche's family belonged to it.  

So then, I understood why, an ammunition depot, could have been organized under the attics. 

The priest collaborated.  
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And mainly, I understood 

why, after the tragedy, 

Marguerite Rouffanche 

accepted her role of false 

witness, to hide the true 

responsibilities in that 

massacre. Her family was 

highly implicated in the 

Resistance.  
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Shortly after, I had a phone conversation with Len Cotton, in which I took handwritten notes, 

I've kept.  

 On the screen is displayed the before last note taken on that September 10, 1996. It can be 

read that Len Cotton is, I quote: "Surprised, to know that French historians, tells that no 

Resistance movement ever existed in Oradour-sur-Glane; [handwritten notes] for him, he 

said that, there was a : "huge Resistance in Oradour-sur-Glane" [Handwritten notes]  

 

 In my book published in 1997, I mentioned the story of Len Cotton. Assuming that this old 

man was a storyteller and that he fooled me, My adversaries ought to have taken the 

opportunity to denounce my incompetence, But they did nothing.  
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That being said, one question remains. Why did the Waffen SS came in Oradour this Saturday 

of June 10, 1944?  

 

The reasons why the Waffen SS came in Oradour  
 

The Allied Landing took place on June 6, 1944. On that date the Das Reich division was 

stationed in the south of France. The Der Führer regiment belonged to that division, which 

played a role in Oradour's case. As they receive the order to go on operation theater, the Das 

Reich arrived in Limoges at dawn on June 9. During the day an unpleasant event occurred.  

 

Once the book in my hands, my first initiative 

was to look in the names index, to find out 

what the author was going to say about Len 

Cotton.  

I could see that Jean-Jacques Fouché was 

telling nothing about him, absolutely nothing. 

The complete reading of the book then 

confirmed it.  
 

 Repeatedly however, he attacked 

revisionists which he qualified as deniers, But 

he carefully avoid the case of Len Cotton.  

Still today, I analyzed his silence as a 

confession. The confession that the story of 

that former RAF pilot is true, and thus, there 

were a structured Maquis in Oradour.  

 

In 2001, the creator of the Center for 

Oradour's Memory, Jean-Jacques 

Fouché, published his work on the 

tragedy of June 10, 1944.  
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Two events were going to guide the investigation. On the evening of June 9.: 

 

 A high ranked of the division: Helmut 

Kempfe, who was in command of Der Führer 

3rd battalion, was captured by the Resistance 

group of Jean Canou.  

 

 

 

 

 

 The abduction took place in Labussière, 

not far from St. Leonard de Noblat, on the 

East of Limoges. Researches ordered 

immediately were in vain. For the Germans, 

it was necessary to do everything possible to 

find the disappeared officer.  

 "The SD intelligence 

office of Limoges, 

[SichereitsDeinst ; Security 

Police] transmitted to the 

regiment some indications 

furnished by the French 

liaison services, according to 

witch a Resistance post of 

command was in Oradour-

sur-Glane."  
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 The 10 in the morning, 

another high ranked of the Das 

Reich: Karl Gerlach, presented 

himself to the post of command. 

Completely exhausted and in 

underwear, he told that he had 

been abducted by Resistants the 

night before with his driver.  

 

 

 The abduction took place in 

Nieul region were his soldiers 

where positioned.  

 

 

 From there, they were 

brought into a village at the 

entrance of which, Gerlach read 

on the village board: Oradour-

sur-Glane. After staying there 

several ten minutes, which 

earned them to be the object of 

the curiosity, of local 

inhabitants and Resistants. 

 Among them women, they were brought further in the North, 

toward Bellac, more exactly in a wood that should have been their 

execution place. 

But Gerlach succeeded to flee, while his driver fell under the 

bullets, and he took advantage of the night to reach Limoges.  
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 Without any surprise, on the French side, the story of this 

officer captured and brought in Oradour where he could saw 

Resistants, was brush aside. In this official book, the authors 

quoted the logbook of the German General Von Brodowsky.  

 On June 14, he mentioned the abduction of Gerlach, near 

Nieul, and his escape. But we were ensured that, I quote: 

"Nothing confirmed this, incident."  

 

However 48 years later, 

everything changed. In the 

Populaire du Centre, 

[Popular from Center] a 

journalist mentioned the 

story of that German 

officer and specified, I 

quote:  

 Interrogated few years 

later in 1951, Gerlach will 

tell his abduction, and will 

state: "At the entrance of a 

village, I saw a plate on 

which was written: 

Oradour-sur-Glane.' That 

plate, Oradour-sur -

Glane, he would certainly 

talk about it on the 

evening of June 1944, to 

Lammerding (Heinz), and 

this is may be from there, 

that the SS… 
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 Persuaded that the prisoner officer mentioned by the two French civilians could only be 

Kempfe, whom he was a friend with, I quote: "Dickmmann seems to be overexcited, and 

asked the colonel [Stadler], the authorization to go at Oradour with a company of his 

battalion, to free, at all cost, Kempfe."  

 

…which anyway had planned an operation in the St. Junien's sector; -one will speak about 

Saillat or Saillac- decided to exercised retaliations on that little village, crossed by the 

Maquis while they kept a German prisoner." Well, I leave aside the claims made by the 

journalist, about the retaliations the Germans would have decided. I just want to underline that 

in 1983, it was not possible anymore to hide that Gherlar, had been abducted and brought to 

Oradour. That being said, let's go back to Limoges' post of command, on June 10, 1944. 

 
 In the morning, the chief of Der Führer 1st battalion, Otto 

Dickmann, arrived to Limoges' post of command. There, he 

reported that, I quote: 

 

 "Some French came to his quarters, and told that a 

German officer was kept prisoner by the Resistance in 

Oradour, where a Maquis headquarter was located, and 

where Kempfe, would be executed in the evening, during a 

public meeting, and then burned. The civilian population, 

following these indications, made common cause with the 

Resistance." End of quotation.  
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 Interrogated in 1947, Colonel Stadler's deputy, told, I quote: "The commanding officer 

allowed him, and gave him the following mission:  

1° - annihilate the Maquis' P.C.;  

2° - search the village and find Kempfe;  

3° - Importance was given for the regiment to take a maximum of prisoners, in order to 

exchange them, if needed, Kempfe against them."  

 

Here's thus, according to the Germans, the 

expedition in Oradour direct origin. It was 

not about burning the place and slaughter the 

population in retaliation, but to attempt, with 

negotiations or by force, to free a superior 

officer probably jailed there. Acting in 

following the habitual procedure, the soldiers 

separated the women and the children, this 

latter group was parked in the church to 

secure them; then the men were brought by 

groups, into barns, to be more easily guarded 

by some sentinels, while the Waffen SS were 

doing searches in the habitations. 

While the searches occurred, allowing to 

seized many arms and ammunition, a huge 

explosion shook the church, shredding 

women and children that were in the nave. 

Caught in that vicious spiral, the Waffen SS 

strafed the men before rushing into the 

church. This is why today, I maintain that 

Oradour, is a police action that went wrong, 

the German commandment mistake was that 

they didn't made previous research in the 

church, before putting women and children 

inside.  

 

 I underline by the way that, far from being congratulated by his superior, Dickmann was 

warned that a judicial inquiry would be opened against him. In 1949, Otto Weidinger told, I 

quote: 

"Stadler made to Dickmann, the keenest reproach, and told him he was going to report these 

events, to the general commanding the division, which would entailed the opening of a 

judicial inquiry. He said to him : 'Dickmann, this is going to cost you a lot." 
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 "Later in the evening of June 10, the division headquarter coming from Tulle arrived to 

Limoges. Stadler went immediately find the General Lammerding, and reported him the 

Oradour's case. General Lammerding decided that a judicial inquiry will be opened, as soon 

as the circumstance allowed."  

 

And inquiry was effectively opened, but Otto Dickmann's death on Normandie's front 

interrupted it, and the filed were destroyed in a bombing raid.  

 

Now, one last question remains. Why did the 

ammunition depot explode provoking an 

unnamed tragedy? As long as the mouths 

remain closed, and the archives unavailable 

to free researchers; -which would be the case 

until 2053- we would be reduce to 

hypothesis. Personally, I favor two of them.  

 

- The first one, whispered to me by Jean-

Claude Pressac during a conversation, 

invokes one or many children, who, after 

being parked in the church, would have 

climbed into the steeple; They would have 

found the ammunition, and played with 

them, engaging a first explosion.  

- The second one, invokes Resistants hidden 

in the church, and being discovered, after a 

denunciation for example, would have tried 

to flee, engaging a battle then, the fatal 

explosion.  

Personally, I favor the second one, not to 

overwhelm the Resistance, but for two 

reasons.  

1) On the floor level, the most damaged 

places of the church, are those that have 

secondaries exits. The St. Anne Chapel, and 

the Sacristy.  

 

2) Bullet impacts, quite numerous, to be 

mentioned by the Police commissar 

Massiéra, were found on the level of one 

windows of the sacristy, suggesting that gun 

fires occurred between attackers and 

assaulted. Thus, I asked myself if, at these 

exits, some Resistants wouldn't have tried to 

flee, and confronting the Waffen SS.  

 

Naturally, other scenario could be imagined, 

but once again, all the light will be made 

when, finally, the archives will be opened. 

Here's why, I launch a call to the authorities, 

and most particularly to Mr. President of the 

Republic. I ask them... I ask him publicly, to 

give me the authorization to consult the 

archives hold in "Le Blanc" in the Indre or 

elsewhere. If the authorities are certain that 

the official version is truthful. then they have 

nothing to fear. Today, I wait. And from the 

answer they'll give to me, could be deduced, 

the good or bad faith of the authorities.  

 

Vincent Reynouard 

 

http://sansconcessiontv.org/ 
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